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            AUTHORS’ NOTE

         

         Break-Up is the culmination of three years of work by two jour­nalists. It is the story of twenty years in the lives and careers of two politicians. It was prompted by the plight of two female civil servants repeatedly abandoned by institutions that should have protected them.

         Alex Salmond was acquitted of thirteen counts of sexual assault on 23 March 2020 after a two-week trial in Edinburgh. More than a year earlier, Nicola Sturgeon’s Scottish government had admitted its internal investigation into sexual harassment claims against him was unlawful, unfair and ‘tainted by apparent bias’.

         This book is not an attempt to retry the case against the former First Minister. Nor does it shy away from exploring his behaviour or the culture at the heart of his government. Its intention is to document as fully as possible what happened, why it happened and what it means.

         Salmond and Sturgeon are two of Scotland’s most familiar faces. To all but their closest friends and family, Ms A and Ms B are faceless.

         The two women who originally came forward to share their experiences of Salmond have been failed at every turn. By a civil service that turned a blind eye to misbehaviour at the time and botched an investigation into it years later; by a legal system that struggled to preserve their anonymity in an age of hyper-partisan social media; by a parliamentary inquiry that spent more time pur­suing party political advantage than searching for the truth; and by a political climate that saw them as mere pawns in a wider consti­tutional battle.

         This book does not claim to redress the balance or even seek to take sides. We are not a court of law or a Scottish Parliament committee. Our ambition is to give the fullest possible account of what took place.

         The political consequences of this ugly chapter in Scottish public life are impossible to ignore. Salmond’s reputation has been dam­aged beyond repair and he now cuts a lonely figure as he continues to undermine his former protégée. Sturgeon may have survived a finding by the Holyrood inquiry into her conduct that she misled Parliament, but she clearly still bears the emotional scars as she contemplates a final push towards independence.

         Salmond and Sturgeon were brought together by a shared dream of breaking up the United Kingdom. We will soon find out what the severing of their relationship means for that continuing ambition.

         But some things are more important than Scotland’s constitu­tional future. The fallout from the saga has set the #MeToo move­ment in Scotland back immeasurably: who now would want to speak out about the misbehaviour of powerful men, particularly in politics, if this is the result?

         Break-Up was motivated by our shared frustration that despite all the time and energy eaten up by the controversy this aspect was almost completely ignored. The false conspiracy theories, deliberate disinformation and misogynistic tropes that proliferated in online discussion strengthened our resolve to contribute an accurate take on what happened.

         The material that follows draws on more than 100 interviews with politicians, special advisers, civil servants and others involved in the events discussed. Some sources had to remain anonymous because of the jobs they do or the fear of recriminations if they spoke publicly. We are deeply indebted to everyone who gave up their time and insight.

         Safeguards rightly imposed during the criminal proceedings to protect the identities of the women who accused Salmond of sexual assault mean the locations, precise details and people in­volved in some of our narrative have had to be removed or redact­ed. It also means there are some parts of the story we cannot tell as fully as we would like. These omissions were beyond our control. Any errors were not.

         The prologue is told in the first person due to the direct involve­ment of one of the authors. The rest of the book is the combined effort of two long-term friends collaborating professionally for the first time. It was produced in the face of legal restrictions, defama­tion threats and online smears.

         Journalism is meant to give a voice to the voiceless. We’ve tried.

         
             

         

         
      
        David Clegg and Kieran Andrews

Dundee, 7 July 2021 
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            PROLOGUE

            FOR THE RECORD

         

         
      BY DAVID CLEGG
    

         23 AUGUST 2018, 2.30 P.M.

         I was working in a quiet corner of a Dundee coffee shop when I received the most memorable email of my life. It was from the Daily Record’s head of news, Kevin Mansi, and contained just five words and a picture.

         ‘Anon letter that’s come in.’ The unremarkable introduction meant I nearly spat out my coffee when my phone loaded the attachment, a scanned copy of a 100-word document which had arrived at the newspaper’s Glasgow office that morning. The con­tents, headlined scottish government reports salmond to police, were absolutely incendiary.

         An anonymous whistleblower was claiming that two women had made sexual misconduct complaints against the former First Minister. The government had investigated the allegations before passing them to the police.

         A summary of the most serious charge was also included:

         
            During the week commencing 2 December 2013 late in the evening when Ms A was alone in FFM’s company on official business, and when FM had been drinking alcohol, FFM in­structed her to move from a public room to FM’s bedroom; re­peatedly offered her alcohol; which she declined; instructed her to take off her boots; instructed her to lie on the bed; lay on top of her in the bed; kissed her; touched her sexually on her breasts and bottom through her clothes; continued this conduct for sev­eral minutes and only stopped when asked repeatedly by her to do so.

         

         The claims were so extraordinary that Mansi’s initial reaction had been to dismiss them as the work of a crank. ‘Surely it’s got to be shite,’ as he put it in a subsequent phone call. Yet on an initial read­ing my instinct was that several elements of the document seemed authentic. The dry language used to summarise alleged behaviour that would ultimately become a criminal charge of sexual assault with intent to rape could only have been penned by a civil servant. The small details also felt right – in particular the use of the three letters FFM to describe Salmond. It was an abbreviation for former First Minister that would mean nothing to the general public but which I had heard many times in political circles. On balance, my judgement was that it was entirely plausible that the account was genuine.

         It was also safe to assume that if it wasn’t a hoax then we were in a race against time to break the story. If this information had reached us, it would not be long until other media organisations also got wind of it. The document had arrived through the post in a standard envelope addressed to the Daily Record news desk. For all we knew, a similar package could have arrived at the office of every newspaper in the country that morning. We had to proceed with speed, caution and care. I immediately left the cafe and sprinted the half-mile back to my house.

         This was not the first occasion during my time as political editor of the Record that I had been given cause to suspect Salmond could be a potential subject of harassment complaints. I’d been covering the Scottish Parliament for seven years when the #MeToo move­ment erupted in the autumn of 2017 and sparked a wave of intense scrutiny of the behaviour of powerful men. It was during efforts to establish the accuracy of rumours circulating about SNP min­ister Mark McDonald that I had a conversation with a Scottish government official that would set the course for what followed. The well-placed figure insisted he had heard nothing unsettling about McDonald’s conduct before adding dramatically: ‘Everyone working in government knows that if a Harvey Weinstein scandal is going to emerge in Scotland, it will be about Alex Salmond.’ Stunned by this comment from a normally level-headed contact, I immediately rang my editor, Murray Foote, to discuss what to do. It was decided that I should drop all other stories and spend the next few weeks digging into Salmond.

         I began contacting civil servants, SNP staffers and govern­ment employees I knew had worked closely with the former First Minister in the previous two decades. A pattern quickly emerged. Salmond was described as a ferocious boss and hard taskmaster who was prone to shouting and swearing at staff. The word ‘bully’ cropped up again and again. Several sources also claimed the Scot­tish government had implemented a secret policy prior to the in­dependence referendum to ensure the safety of female employees working at close quarters with Salmond. Yet it was also evident the former First Minister was an extremely talented and charismatic leader who inspired feelings of loyalty and devotion in subordi­nates – even those he mistreated. The picture was of a powerful man with a quick temper who had presided over a toxic culture that saw his erratic behaviour indulged and covered up by the civil service.

         On 31 October 2017, I submitted a series of questions to the Scottish government asking if any complaints had been made about Salmond during his time as First Minister. In a separate media enquiry, I also asked if a policy had been put in place to stop women working alone late at night with him. The government insisted there had been no policy and no complaints. Despite con­tinuing whispers at Holyrood about Salmond having skeletons in his closet, none of the claims could be corroborated with sufficient certainty to allow publication. The news agenda moved on, but the gossip in Scottish political circles continued to focus on Salmond’s past behaviour.

         The anonymous letter that had arrived at Record HQ almost a year later suggested there was now something concrete to report on and we would have to move fast. Given the sensitivities involved, it was decided that only three journalists would be made privy to what was going on: Mansi, myself and the new editor, David Dick. Meanwhile, the Record’s senior lawyer, Campbell Deane, was traced to a holiday resort and politely asked to stay out of the pub as his services were likely to be required.

         I contacted the Scottish government and asked for a comment shortly before 4 p.m., while Mansi made a similar call to Police Scotland for information on the status of their investigation. The reaction from both organisations was bizarre and panicked – giving us renewed confidence in the accuracy of our information.

         The Scottish government press office did not deny the substance of what was put to them but would not be drawn on the details. After several frustrating phone calls, I sent an email to the organisation’s head of news at 7.06 p.m. highlighting First Minister Nicola Sturgeon’s repeated public commitments to transparency in dealing with any alleged cases of harassment and demanding that her words were translated into action.

         In a bluff aimed at forcing the issue, I added:

         
            I can confirm that we are proceeding with this story and I will need a response by 7.30 p.m. I also should inform you that it is likely the Scottish Government’s stonewalling of legitimate press inquiries on this matter may form a part of the story if a comment is not forthcoming.

         

         I strongly suspected Sturgeon’s administration could be trying to cover up the existence of the complaints to protect Salmond and the wider SNP. Ironically, the subsequent Scottish Parliament in­quiry would instead focus on whether senior officials had improp­erly released the information after Salmond pointed the finger at the First Minister’s office for leaking it.

         The Scottish government replied at 7.19 p.m. with a short and puzzling statement saying they couldn’t ‘currently’ comment on the situation for ‘legal reasons’. The police response was even more unusual. It said the force ‘would not comment on whether’ they were investigating. The responses were significant for two reasons: they effectively confirmed the existence of some kind of complaint against Salmond, but they also suggested the former First Minister was locked in a legal dispute with the Scottish government over the issue. A scenario that would have seemed impossible only that morning began to emerge. Could Alex Salmond really be at war with the government led by his protégée Nicola Sturgeon?

         The race was now on to verify the accuracy of the information independently so we could publish regardless of on-the-record confirmation. All the journalists involved were acutely aware that the slightest inaccuracy in any subsequent story could have disas­trous consequences. I began methodically recontacting sources who had been useful in recent months in the hope they could provide further corroboration. Tellingly, I found I was unable to get any senior Scottish government special adviser to answer their phone. Meanwhile, Mansi worked his extensive police contacts. It was not until 8 p.m. that – after consultation with Campbell Deane – we had enough confidence in our information to contact Salmond di­rectly to give him the opportunity to present his version of events.

         I was in my small home office when I dialled his mobile number and heard that distinctive voice click onto the line. I had last seen the former First Minister the previous year when I took him for a long lunch in Glasgow two weeks after he lost his Westminster seat. His tone was much colder on this occasion.

         ‘Yes, David, what can I do for you?’ he asked.

         My heart was pounding as I replied: ‘We’re doing a story on the allegation the police are looking at. Should I be speaking to a lawyer, or is there a comment I should take from you?’

         There was a long pause.

         ‘And which allegation is this, David?’

         ‘The one from December 2013 at Bute House.’

         ‘And what’s the detail of it, sorry, David?’

         ‘That a staff member at Bute House was harassed or assaulted after a function.’

         In the terse three-minute conversation that followed, Salmond avoided being drawn on the substance of the complaints and fo­cused on fishing for more information on the status of the police investigation and enquiring into who was the source of the story. He also asked for the allegations to be put to him in writing, a request I duly obliged.

         With the Record’s print deadline looming, an urgent conference call was convened to discuss whether to publish in the event of no substantive response to the details of the allegations being received from the Scottish government, Police Scotland or the former First Minister. This was a big call for David Dick, who had been in the editor’s chair for only a few months and was now dealing with the biggest story any Scottish newspaper had tackled in living memory. After a brief discussion, he decided he was happy for us to proceed and I began writing.

         Then, at 9.32 p.m., an emailed response from Salmond’s lawyer, David McKie of Levy & McRae, dropped into my inbox. Its con­tents were breathtaking.

         He did not dispute the existence of the allegations or even make a threat of defamation action. Instead, he warned that publication would be a breach of privacy and cited the recent high-profile find­ing against the BBC regarding coverage of the police investigation into pop legend Sir Cliff Richard.

         An accompanying statement from Salmond confirmed he was taking the Scottish government to court over their handling of sexual harassment complaints. The former First Minister also in­sisted he was completely innocent of any wrongdoing and would fight to clear his name. In an attempt to spoil the Record story shortly before publication, the statement was also distributed to a bewildered Scottish press pack at 10 p.m. It was an implicit ac­knowledgement that the striking headline about to roll off the Re-cord’s printing presses on the south side of Glasgow was accurate: salmond reported to cops over sex attack claims.

         The shocking sexual misconduct allegations against Alex Sal­mond were finally out in the open, but the fallout was only just beginning.

      

   


   
      
         
            CHAPTER 1

            THE FRIENDSHIP

         

         24 AUGUST 2018, 4 P.M.

         ‘If someone asked me if I was a groper I’d say “No”. Why can’t you say “No”, Alex?’

         Alex Salmond had endured many uncomfortable moments at the hands of the Scottish media over the previous three decades, but the hastily arranged press conference at the Champany Inn was excruciating.

         He had summoned the country’s shellshocked political journal­ists to one of his favourite haunts – a rustic, well-regarded restau­rant outside Linlithgow, the town of his birth – within hours of the Daily Record revealing he was facing two allegations of sexual misconduct dating back to his time as First Minister. Hard-bitten hacks who had covered the rough and tumble of Scottish politics for years struggled to process the magnitude of the story that had erupted overnight. The most famous Scottish nationalist of the past century, and the man who had taken the country to the brink of in­dependence, had been accused of committing sexual assault in his official residence, Bute House, and was now taking his successor, Nicola Sturgeon, to court over how her government had conducted their investigation into the claims. It was the Scottish equivalent of learning David Cameron had been accused of committing a sex attack in Downing Street and had responded by launching legal action against Theresa May.

         The bombshell spawned a host of questions: had Sturgeon known about his alleged behaviour? Had it been covered up at the time? Would the claims end up in a criminal court? What would happen to the women who had come forward? What did it mean for the future of the SNP and Scottish independence?

         Despite being a stone’s throw from the M9, the motorway which cuts across Scotland’s central belt, the Champany Inn is a secluded, stone-built venue set in West Lothian farmland. Cars and broadcast vans from Glasgow and Edinburgh were soon lined up along the narrow track to the restaurant, set back from the road amongst low, white-washed and pantiled buildings. A sunlit court­yard became the impromptu waiting pen for dozens of journalists, leaving diners bemused at the sight of the massed ranks of report­ers, photographers and camera crews.

         When the press conference finally got under way shortly after 4 p.m., the throng moved to what appeared at first glance to be a jarringly inappropriate venue. Salmond sat at the head of a narrow wooden table in what would often be used as a wedding marquee – a light, airy canopy with boxes of champagne stacked at the side. The fabric-covered chairs, normally draped in ribbons, were hud­dled tight so the reporters could lean in.

         Scotland’s longest-serving First Minister, dressed in an unre­markable navy suit and blue tie, was sombre and composed as he made a short opening statement. The questions, starting four min­utes later, took a lot longer and were significantly more animated. The overwhelmingly male composition of Scotland’s political press pack meant pictures of the event would give the impression of a chummy old boys’ reunion, but the line of questioning pursued by the journalists was far from friendly.

         Salmond acknowledged he had made mistakes but insisted he had never harassed anyone and was innocent of any crime. ‘I’m no saint. I’ve made mistakes politically, I’ve made mistakes personally, but I refute the complaints that have been made against me and I absolutely deny any semblance of criminality,’ he said in a state­ment that would mirror his attitude to more than a dozen allega­tions which would emerge in the coming months. He expressed no ill will towards the complainants, who he said had a ‘perfect right’ to raise their concerns, but was fierce in his criticism of Leslie Evans, Scotland’s most senior civil servant. ‘For whatever reason, the Permanent Secretary has decided to mount a process against me using an unlawful procedure which she herself introduced,’ he said. ‘I will let a real court decide whether it was lawful for her to do so.’

         Veteran journalists noted that Salmond looked tired and had aged visibly in the four years since stepping down as First Min­ister. Another significant difference from his time in office was that there were now no government officials on hand to control the press pack and rule difficult questions out of bounds. Report­ers took full advantage of the unfettered access and lack of referee. The old Salmond swagger seemed gone as he fended off repeated attempts to tease out salacious details by answering in short, softly spoken sentences with only the hum of the motorway traffic in the background. His responses were calm but rarely forthcoming. ‘If I’m wrong, and I fall in the Court of Session, then I’ve got no alter­native [but] to answer the complaints openly and publicly, which I will,’ he said. ‘But if I’m right, and this process is fundamentally flawed, then those at the top of the administration of the Scottish government – and I am talking about the administration, not pol­iticians, the Permanent Secretary at the top of the administration, will have the most serious questions to answer.’

         The journalists in the marquee were less interested in the tech­nical details of the Scottish government’s disputed process for investigating the harassment complaints than they were in the nature of the allegations now facing the former First Minister. Citing the pending legal action, Salmond refused to confirm the details that had appeared in the Record that morning or give any further information. Asked if there had been any sexual indiscre­tions, he responded: ‘No – I’m not going to give you a list of the mistakes I think I’ve made.’ Other questions included: do you think you used to drink too much as FM? Are your memories sharp? Are you sorry if you made any of the women you worked with uncom­fortable? Are you a groper? Have you done anything that would warrant an apology to your wife?

         It was an unrelenting barrage that lasted just over forty minutes.

         On the final point, Salmond’s response was non-committal: ‘One thing that’s so encouraged me is that friends and family today, and in the case of Moira the last few months, have been incredibly supportive. I’ve had lots and lots of messages today and I’m grateful for them.’

         He also refused to comment on whether he had asked Sturgeon to intervene in the government harassment inquiry and make it go away. He did admit speaking to his former protégée on several occasions about the case but added: ‘I’m not going to say what a private conversation between myself and Nicola Sturgeon was.’

         His insistence on the confidentiality of those discussions would not last long: he would later accuse the First Minister of breaching the Scottish government’s ministerial code of conduct by failing to intervene on his behalf. But while many more months would pass until the full extent of the rift between the pair became apparent, Salmond’s cold tone did little to conceal the fact that he was disap­pointed in the woman who had served as his deputy for ten years, including seven in government.

         A few miles away in Edinburgh, Sturgeon was also breaking her silence on the scandal in an extraordinary interview with the BBC. Her face etched with anguish, the First Minister confirmed that two women had made complaints against Salmond in January and an investigation had been conducted under a new procedure cov­ering ministers and former ministers which she had signed off the previous month at the height of the #MeToo campaign that fol­lowed the Harvey Weinstein sexual harassment scandal. ‘Although I have been aware for some time of the fact of the investigation – initially from Alex Salmond – I have had no role in the process, and to have referred to it before now would have compromised the integrity of the internal investigation, which I was not prepared to do,’ she insisted.

         Sturgeon also confirmed she had been told by Evans earlier that week that the investigation was complete and that she intended to make the complaints public. On legal advice, Sturgeon withheld the fact that Salmond had faced eleven separate complaints from the two women, of which five had been upheld by the Permanent Secretary as ‘well founded’.

         ‘Alex Salmond is now challenging the Scottish government’s procedure in court. The Scottish government refutes his criticisms of its process and will defend its position vigorously,’ she added.

         Sturgeon’s words impressed upon the viewer that she was a pol­itician facing an unenviable dilemma in which she had been forced to choose between loyalty to her mentor and her responsibility as First Minister to ensure all allegations raised with the government were dealt with properly. ‘This will be extremely upsetting to mem­bers of the SNP up and down the country,’ she said. ‘It’s a difficult situation, but what is important is that complaints are treated seri­ously, regardless of who the person complained about is.’

         Sturgeon would also have recognised the bitter irony of Sal­mond selecting the Champany Inn as the venue to symbolically sever their friendship by announcing his legal battle against her government. It was the very spot where fourteen years earlier the most successful partnership in the history of Scottish politics had been forged.

         
            * * *

         

         In the summer of 2004, the Scottish National Party was in crisis. Alex Salmond was a backbench MP whose best days were widely thought to be behind him, while Nicola Sturgeon was heading for an embarrassing defeat in the party’s leadership contest. Three years later, the SNP was in government, Salmond was First Minis­ter and Sturgeon was his deputy. The rapid change in fortunes can be traced back to a steak dinner the two politicians shared at the Champany Inn on Saturday 10 July 2004.

         John Swinney had resigned as SNP leader on 22 June in the wake of a disastrous showing in the European Parliament elections. The studious if unflashy North Tayside MSP had been in the party’s top job for four years but struggled to match the media profile Sal­mond had built up during his first tenure in charge between 1990 and 2000.

         Public anger at Tony Blair over the invasion of Iraq should have provided fertile ground for Scottish nationalist support, as voters protesting UK foreign policy looked for a new home. Swinney had been at the forefront of Scottish opposition to the war, joining large-scale marches in Glasgow and leading debates on the issue at the Scottish Parliament – but the party’s vote share under his leadership consistently went backwards.

         Salmond had been spinning his wheels as the leader of the SNP’s small group of five MPs at Westminster and initially dismissed any notion that he would return to Edinburgh to resume the leader­ship. In one interview, he even notoriously declared: ‘If nominated I’ll decline, if drafted I’ll defer and if elected I’ll resign.’ He was in­voking Union Army General William Sherman’s response to being asked to run for US President, but that didn’t stop the formulation being wheeled out ironically many times in the years that followed.

         With Salmond out of the picture, the contest originally shaped up as a three-way battle between Sturgeon, who was still only thirty-three years old, the Perth MSP Roseanna Cunningham, who had served as Swinney’s deputy for the previous four years, and Michael Russell, the former SNP chief executive who had lost his seat in the Scottish Parliament election the previous year. Salmond, who had not yet turned fifty, had been politically close to all three at different times. While publicly backing Sturgeon, he initially seemed content to let the contest run its course without his direct involvement.

         That changed on 15 July when, not for the first or the last time, Salmond shocked the Scottish political world by announcing he was launching an audacious comeback bid. There had been a con­certed campaign to convince him to enter the race from senior party figures, including the Moray MP Angus Robertson and influential former MSP Andrew Wilson, which only intensified following a car-crash performance from Cunningham, the frontrunner, on the BBC’s Question Time on 1 July. Nevertheless, the U-turn still came as a major surprise to all but Salmond’s closest allies.

         Campbell Gunn, then political editor of the Sunday Post, recalls a chance encounter with Salmond in London the day before his entry into the race. The legendary journalist, who a decade later would work for Salmond as a media adviser, had been in the House of Commons for the publication of the long-awaited Butler Report into the invasion of Iraq the previous year. The fallout from the inquiry, which determined that the intelligence used by the Blair administration to convince MPs to vote in favour of the conflict had been unreliable, was a piece of parliamentary theatre that Sal­mond simply could not miss.

         Once the drama concluded in the Commons, the two men happened upon each other at Westminster Tube Station on their way home to Scotland and fell into a lengthy conversation about the ongoing leadership contest. The strengths and weaknesses of the various candidates were discussed without Salmond giving any indication that he was poised to throw his hat into the ring.

         Gunn was back home in Glasgow the next morning when his alarm went off as usual to the BBC’s flagship Good Morning Scotland programme. He picks up the story in his unpublished memoirs:

         
            The lead item was that in a remarkable about-turn Alex Salmond had announced he was to enter the SNP leadership contest. I dozed off back to sleep, I’d met Alex the previous evening, and we’d been talking about the contest – I was obviously dreaming. Then I jolted awake. No. I had actually heard that on the radio! I jumped out of bed, listened to the remainder of the news pro­gramme which confirmed that he would be making an official announcement later that day in Aberdeen. I immediately made plans to head north instead of going through to the Holyrood parliament.

         

         When he arrived at the venue for the press conference – the Mar­cliffe at Pitfodels, another of Salmond’s favourite hotels – Gunn found the politician apologetic for his lack of candour the evening before and strongly hinting that his wife, Moira, may have been behind the sudden twist in the leadership contest. Gunn explains: ‘I asked what had been behind his change of heart. Had he seen Roseanna’s poor performance on Question Time? “No,” he said, “but Moira saw it.” Mrs Salmond had told her husband he had to stand for the sake of the party.’

         Those who are close to the couple all attest to Moira’s influ­ence over Salmond, and she was the first name on his nomination papers, so Gunn’s theory that she may have been behind her husband’s decision to stand is credible. The couple met in the 1970s when Salmond was an assistant economist in the Scottish Office and the then Moira French McGlashan, who is seventeen years his senior, was his boss. They married in the summer of 1981 and Moira, the daughter of a car mechanic from Peebles, taught him how to drive and refined his image. She is often the inspiration behind Salmond’s on-again off-again diets, keeping a careful eye on what he eats and drinks, and is studious about his appearance to the point that he has admitted always checking that the flaps of his suit pockets are untucked before going on television to save himself from a row later.

         Whatever the motivation behind it, there is no dispute about how Salmond’s spectacular entry into the leadership race unfold­ed. With his mind made up, he got in touch with Sturgeon’s team and asked for an urgent meeting. The Champany Inn was already one of Salmond’s favourite restaurants and he had formed a close personal friendship with the owners, Clive and Anne Davidson. Its secluded location, away from the prying eyes of the political bubble in Edinburgh, made it an ideal spot for mapping out the future of the party.

         Sturgeon arrived with no inkling that her mentor had under­gone a change of heart and was about to propose the equivalent of the famous Granita pact between Tony Blair and Gordon Brown. Then, in a move which closely mirrored the deal brokered by the Labour heavyweights, Salmond asked her to withdraw from the contest and instead back him for leader and serve as his deputy. It was an audacious move even for Salmond, who had already devel­oped a reputation for bold and unexpected plays which caught the political establishment off-guard.

         Sturgeon asked for forty-eight hours to think about it but agreed within a day. ‘He told me straight what he was considering, why he was considering it, and what he thought we should do together as a team,’ Sturgeon would later recall to the BBC. ‘But he said to me very, very frankly that if I didn’t want to do that and I wanted to [continue] as [a candidate for] leader then that was fine, he would perfectly happily back me in doing that. He gave me a veto on it.’

         She ultimately calculated that Salmond assuming command with her as deputy would be the best move for the party. Given she was widely expected to fall short in the leadership contest, it could be argued that the move also progressed her personal ambitions.

         The main casualty of the arrangement was Kenny MacAskill, who had been seeking the deputy leader role after backing Stur­geon for the top post. On learning of the development, the Lothi­ans MSP agreed to withdraw from the race and give his backing to the Salmond–Sturgeon partnership. It was not the last time MacAskill would find himself at the centre of drama involving the pair. As Scottish Justice Secretary in 2009 he would precipitate the SNP government’s first real crisis by approving the release of the man convicted of the Lockerbie bombing, Abdelbaset al-Megrahi, on compassionate grounds. Later still, he would defect from the SNP to the Alba Party ahead of the 2021 Scottish Parliament elec­tion, after siding with Salmond over Sturgeon in the feud which had cleaved through the nationalist movement. In 2004, however, MacAskill played a key role in cementing the pair’s close political relationship by agreeing to bow out of the deputy leadership con­test and give them a clear run. ‘My ambition is for the future of the SNP and the future of Scotland,’ he said at the time. ‘I believe the Salmond–Sturgeon team is the best to unite the party and take the SNP forward.’

         The Herald newspaper broke the news of the agreement a few days later in a front-page report which opened by referencing the significance of the restaurant: ‘Champany Inn in Linlithgow will now be etched in the annals of SNP history as the place where Alex Salmond persuaded Nicola Sturgeon to step aside and let the king return from across the water.’

         When the votes were counted on 3 September, the king was comfortably returned to his throne. Salmond won the support of 75.8 per cent of SNP members who voted, compared to Cunning-ham’s 14.6 per cent and Russell’s 9.7 per cent. It was a resounding victory – ‘Mike and I got well stuffed,’ was how Cunningham put it – that left no doubt over the future direction of the party. Stur­geon also achieved a handsome mandate for the deputy position, hoovering up 53.9 per cent of the vote. The joint ticket had ensured the Salmond–Sturgeon alliance was now firmly in control.

         The pair had been presented very much as a team during the contest, with Salmond telling members that between them they had ‘what it takes to appeal to all of Scotland – north and south, male and female, youth and experience’. It was a sales pitch he re­peated to the wider public in an interview with the BBC’s Breakfast with Frost programme two days after the results were announced. Salmond said he had been attracted back to frontline politics be­cause the SNP was now under a ‘team leadership’. ‘This time I am back and I am back as a team player,’ he added. ‘It is a novelty for me, but it will be even better.’

         In a keynote speech to the SNP conference in Inverness three weeks later, Salmond sketched out the party’s main goals over the coming years. He pledged to take the SNP to power at Holyrood in the 2007 election, ensure Tony Blair was ‘drummed from office’ over the Iraq War and convince Scots that independence repre­sented their best hope for the future. He also stressed that Stur­geon would play a crucial role in achieving these ambitions: ‘Nicola and I campaigned as a team, we will lead as a team and we will win as a team.’

         Some within the SNP harboured deep scepticism over wheth­er Salmond had really embraced a more consensual approach to internal party politics or had merely identified Sturgeon as a useful asset that complemented his strengths while glossing over his weaknesses. Party strategists certainly hoped that having a young woman from Ayrshire in a prominent position would help them appeal to parts of Scotland they had traditionally struggled to reach. One key adviser at the time says:

         
            Alex had always been very respectful of Nicola – he made her a member of his shadow Cabinet in the first Scottish parliamenta­ry term – but at this point it wasn’t the tight-knit duo it became. He obviously could see the advantages of making her deputy and that all came out of the meeting at Champany. He had to some­how account for the fact it was all a bit Back to the Future – he had already been leader, he’d had a ten-year stint, so it needed that extra element. Nicola gave the whole thing a fresh coat of paint.

         

         The pair had been close for many years, with Salmond an influen­tial presence in Sturgeon’s life since she was eighteen. Three years later he had encouraged her to stand as a parliamentary candidate in the 1992 general election, a fact Sturgeon later said showed ‘he believed in me long before I believed in myself’. However, their re­lationship was always primarily political – a situation reinforced by their very different personalities. Sturgeon was a generation young­er, more reserved and the pair did not tend to mix in the same circles. Indeed, while Salmond was extremely sociable and enjoyed long boozy lunches and dinners with colleagues, Sturgeon was more comfortable at home with a book when not working or cam­paigning. ‘I wouldn’t describe the relationship as deeply warm at that point but clearly there was a lot of respect there,’ says Andrew Wilson, the former SNP MSP who also worked for Salmond for a time. ‘She learned a lot from being his deputy because the one thing about Nicola at that time was she was absolutely determined to improve herself.’

         Salmond’s absence from the Scottish Parliament – he had stepped down from Holyrood three years earlier – gave Sturgeon a major opportunity for personal development, as it was her job to lead the SNP at Holyrood and take the fight to the govern­ing Labour–Lib Dem coalition. Her weekly jousts with Jack Mc­Connell at First Minister’s Questions (FMQs) thrust her into the media spotlight and bolstered her reputation as an impressive par­liamentary performer – a status confirmed when she won Donald Dewar Debater of the Year at the 2004 Scottish Politician of the Year awards ceremony.

         It was also at this time that Sturgeon began to work with the man who would become her closest adviser for the next decade. Noel Dolan was a former TV journalist who had worked briefly as Salmond’s chief of staff at Holyrood. It was on his former boss’s recommendation that Sturgeon brought him in to oversee FMQs. ‘We worked very well together,’ he recalls.

         
            It is the only time in the week that you have equal time with the First Minister and so my ambition every week was to get on telly and she was, we were, quite good at doing that. So she got on telly and she got a pretty good profile during those two and a half years, she became kind of well known.

         

         In contrast, Salmond initially struggled to make much of an im­pression in his first year back in charge. He was being overshad­owed at Westminster by Charles Kennedy, the Liberal Democrat leader, who was enjoying success criticising New Labour from the centre left. The Highlander had been an MP since 1983, enjoyed a huge media profile and had successfully positioned his party as the main parliamentary voice of opposition to the war in Iraq. His dominating presence on the UK stage gave Salmond little room for manoeuvre.

         The 2005 general election was a disappointment for the SNP. It brought little change in Scotland’s political make-up despite a reduction in the number of seats following devolution. The SNP went from five MPs to six but, in terms of vote share, finished five points behind the Lib Dems and only two ahead of the Tories.

         However, circumstances changed significantly in Salmond’s favour in early January 2006 when Kennedy quit the Lib Dem leadership after admitting seeking help for an alcohol problem. Sal­mond was soon able to position himself as the foremost Westmin­ster critic of the Labour government over the unfolding disaster in Iraq. Two months later the SNP also managed to seize the UK domestic agenda when their Western Isles MP, Angus MacNeil, reported the ‘cash for honours’ scandal to the Metropolitan Police. The subsequent sixteen-month investigation into the connections between political donations and the awarding of life peerages kept the spectre of Labour corruption – and the profile of Salmond and the SNP – in national headlines all the way to the Scottish Parlia­ment election in May 2007.

         McConnell, who had been First Minister since 2001, enjoyed a reasonably warm personal relationship with Sturgeon, but his team soon realised she added an extra weapon to the SNP’s arse­nal. Labour’s private opinion polling and focus groups had shown that Salmond enjoyed very high levels of popularity with men but was struggling to convince women. There was something about his abrasive and belligerent debating style that was causing a signifi­cant gender gap in his approval ratings. It was a trend also picked up by the SNP’s internal research; their answer was to give Stur­geon a more prominent role.

         ‘Salmond was beating Jack consistently amongst male voters by this point, but Jack was beating him consistently amongst female voters,’ says a source close to McConnell.

         
            And then from the start of the autumn of 2006 there was a dis­tinct shift and they started running all the adverts of Alex and Nicola as a duo. She was used consistently for the twelve months running up to the 2007 election, for softening up his image and making him more presentable – especially to women.

         

         Sturgeon was very much a woman used to operating in a man’s world. The SNP of the early 1990s was a macho environment and she inevitably found herself surrounded by mainly male role models, of whom Salmond was the most important. She spoke candidly about how this climate formed her early approach to pol­itics in an interview with The Herald to mark International Women’s Day in 2018. ‘Most of the people I was surrounded with were men,’ she told the journalist Marianne Taylor.

         
            I have gained more understanding of this by looking back, but I know that influenced how I behaved as a politician when I was younger. You start to adopt – unconsciously – behaviours, the stance, the approach. In politics it leads you to be more adver­sarial and aggressive in your approach and as a young woman, behaving like the men behave inevitably leads to people seeing you as taking yourself far too seriously. It’s a no-win situation and you quickly realise this. If you behave in the way people expect women to behave, the danger is you are treated as not being serious enough. If you emulate the behaviours of the men around you, you are accused of not being feminine.

         

         In retrospect, the timing of the article’s publication on 8 March 2018 is noteworthy. It came two days after Salmond had been told the Scottish government had launched a secret probe into sexual harassment allegations against him. Sturgeon insists she knew nothing of the investigation until the following month. While the comments were very much in tune with the public mood at the time, her efforts to distance herself from the often aggressive and abrasive behaviour of her predecessor is striking given what followed in the months and years to come. ‘In my early days in politics I probably did subconsciously emulate male behaviour too much,’ she said in the same interview. ‘A lot of the stuff written about me in my younger days was all about how I was adversarial and never smiled – stuff that would never be said about a man.’

         Salmond’s ‘adversarial’ nature had already been well-documented by the time of his second tenure as SNP leader. He was renowned for having a quick temper with staff and vicious debating style with opponents. Yet he also had a personal warmth and charisma that could inspire extraordinary loyalty amongst even those on the receiving end of his tantrums. A number of impressive individuals who worked for Salmond as young men struggled to detach them­selves from his orbit as their careers progressed. Kevin Pringle, for years Salmond’s chief spin doctor, is probably the best example of someone who left for the private sector on more than one occasion but could never quite sever ties with the man who was frequently called ‘the boss’ by his staff. Other examples include MSP turned barrister Duncan Hamilton, long-serving chief of staff Geoff Aberdein and digital guru Kirk Torrance. With the exception of Sturgeon, examples of female colleagues who have enjoyed such lengthy associations with Salmond are harder to come by.

         Another faithful adviser from his early days, Stephen Noon, captured the essence of Salmond’s leadership style in a 1998 article for The Independent. Written the year before the Scottish Parlia­ment was set up, Salmond was at that stage just a small fish in the Westminster pond. But the basic description outlined by Noon, who subsequently worked in various roles for the SNP and Yes Scotland before emigrating to Canada to become a Jesuit priest in 2017, would be echoed by many staff over the years. ‘Alex is a great motivator because you know however hard you work, he is work­ing harder. He will blaze at you for two minutes if you have done something wrong, but then it’s forgotten,’ he said.

         
            He also has a way of finding out what’s going on in the office by leaving pauses which he knows you will fill. In your anxiety to fill the silence you can end up confessing everything, but I’m wise to this trick now. He has another annoying habit of asking a question he knows that you don’t have the answer to; but he also encourages you to challenge him.

         

         Noon also referenced Salmond’s easy rapport with the general public and love of shooting the breeze with strangers – a skill that would be put to great use during the independence referendum campaign in 2014. ‘He loves hearing other people’s opinions, and during a shopping trip with his wife, for example, he may spend two hours speaking to people in the streets,’ Noon added. ‘He’s able to dominate every room he walks into and he has great per­sonal charisma.’

         Salmond’s ability to charm had always been a feature of his po­litical campaigning, but if the SNP hoped to ascend to government in 2007, they knew they needed to soften his image and expand his appeal. They also realised this would take more than adding Sturgeon to their campaign posters.

         The roadmap for this new direction was devised on the banks of the Spey, in Moray, just two months after the disappointment of the 2005 general election. The party’s most influential figures gathered at the Craigellachie Hotel that July, amongst them Noon, Robertson, Pringle, MacNeil and the SNP’s chief executive and Sturgeon’s then partner and future husband, Peter Murrell. Alas­dair Allan, the national secretary, who had worked in Salmond’s Peterhead office and would later represent the SNP on the Holy-rood committee inquiry into the government’s handling of the harassment complaints, was also in attendance.

         The meeting has subsequently gained legendary status in the minds of supporters as the moment the SNP made the switch from being a party of opposition to a party of power, declaring they would be ‘ready for government before May 3, 2007, and in govern­ment thereafter’.

         SNP researcher John Fellows recalled in a 2017 blog the shift in presentation that followed:

         
            Over the next two years we went from employing a sniping, angry tone across our communications and media work to become the positive, aspirational force in Scottish politics. We honed our message down to two key messages: that the Scot­tish Parliament election in 2007 was a straight fight between the SNP and Labour, and between Jack McConnell and Alex Sal­mond to be Scotland’s First Minister.

         

         Around this time the SNP was introduced to ‘life coach’ Claire Howell, who stressed the need for upbeat, optimistic language in political campaigning. Her philosophy was based on the idea that a positive message always beats a negative message. Taking her advice to heart, Salmond took significant steps to be less combative in public as part of continuing efforts to soften his image.

         ‘I would call this Salmond mark two,’ says SNP veteran Alex Neil.

         
            He had learned some of the lessons of the mistakes he had  made during his first ten years in the top job. He came back with a much clearer sense of purpose about what he was trying to achieve. He was much more disciplined. He was much more insistent on a more disciplined approach. He had a much clearer strategy. He was much more single-minded about winning the election.

         

         The 2007 manifesto, ‘A Culture of Independence’, contained pop­ulist fare that appealed to the middle-class voters who decide the outcome of all Scottish elections. It pledged to scrap council tax, cancel student debt, support small business and boost the number of frontline police officers.

         It also cemented the idea of Salmond and Sturgeon as a team. The pair were pictured together and a foreword by Salmond concluded:

         
            We are working hard to earn the trust and support of the people of Scotland and we will trust Scots to take the decision on Scot-land’s future in an independence referendum. The choice will be yours. That is the fair and democratic way. It’s time for a Scottish government that cares about success for our nation. Nicola Stur­geon and I are ready to take Scotland forward.

         

         They would soon take Scotland forward to within touching dis­tance of breaking up the British state.

      

   


   
      
         
            CHAPTER 2

            IN POWER

         

         4 MAY 2007, 4.30 P.M.

         Alex Salmond declared victory before he was sure it was his.

         Votes were still being counted in the 2007 Scottish Parlia­ment election when the SNP leader touched down by helicopter on the grounds of the five-star Prestonfield House on the outskirts of Edinburgh. His party had not technically won yet – several con­stituencies were still to declare in a neck-and-neck contest marred by delays and an unprecedented number of spoilt ballots – but the uncertainty of the result did not stop Salmond presenting himself as not just a winner but a First Minister.

         Accompanied by his future chief of staff Geoff Aberdein and Moray MP Angus Robertson, the 52-year-old seized the initiative with a carefully calibrated televised address in the hotel’s extensive gardens. ‘It is very clear indeed which party has lost this election and the Labour Party no longer has any moral authority left to govern Scotland,’ he said. ‘Scotland has changed for good and for ever. There may be Labour governments and First Ministers in decades still to come, but never again will the Labour Party think it has a divine right to government.’

         The optics of the moment were reinforced shortly afterwards when Labour leader Jack McConnell gave a downbeat TV interview from a drab roadside location in which he called for a weekend of reflection and no ‘snap decisions’. ‘The contrast with Alex and the helicopter arrival, the podium on the lawn, the look of Prestonfield, and what he was saying contrasted with Jack Mc­Connell standing in a lane,’ recalls an SNP staffer. ‘It just looked like: “Hang on, this guy’s won and this guy has lost.”’

         Within a few hours, the SNP would indeed be declared the big­gest party at Holyrood, although by the slimmest of possible mar­gins. They took forty-seven seats compared to Labour’s forty-six, making Salmond’s act of political theatre on the Prestonfield lawn seem a self-fulfilling prophecy.

         His core team had gathered at the venue in the hope of a histor­ic result. In addition to Aberdein and Robertson, Nicola Sturgeon had travelled across from Glasgow after a breakthrough victory which removed Labour’s sitting MSP, Gordon Jackson, from the Govan constituency. (Jackson, a QC, would return full-time to his law career and eventually lead Salmond’s defence in the 2020 crim­inal trial.)

         ‘It was important for Nicola from her point of view to try and win it,’ recalls Sturgeon’s adviser Noel Dolan. ‘She wasn’t necessar­ily expecting that we’d win the election overall. We were kind of hopeful, but we were hoping we were going to win Govan. That would have been a big success. It was a big success as far as we were concerned.’

         Also in attendance at Prestonfield were Sturgeon’s husband-to-be and party chief executive Peter Murrell, future SNP MP Ste­phen Gethins, strategists Kevin Pringle, Colin McAllister, Stephen Noon and Jennifer Dempsie, an adviser who would later marry Robertson. These were the key people who had transformed the SNP from a party that was in crisis just three years earlier to one that was now heading for government. Their unexpected triumph arrived like a bolt from the blue. Labour had not lost an election in Scotland since 1955 and the prospect of any other party gaining control of the devolved Parliament had barely been contemplated in the eight years since its inception. ‘You have to remember the shock of what happened,’ says then Scottish Sun political editor Andrew Nicoll.

         
            The SNP was a fringe group for decades. They stood in elections for eighty years and never won one and then they did – but just barely. The point about the first term, to my mind, was the fact that it was so clearly not the crest of the wave but just the start.

         

         Journalists who had been following the inner workings of the SNP for years suddenly found themselves in high demand for consul­tancy work as businesses, charities and other organisations scram­bled to gain insight into this once peripheral group now running the country.

         The decision to govern alone was equally unchartered territory. The first two Scottish Parliament terms had seen Labour and the Liberal Democrats form a coalition in order to gain the sixty-five seats necessary for a Holyrood majority. As leader of the biggest party, Salmond initially attempted to sound out the Lib Dems about a formal partnership, but his insistence that an independ­ence referendum would have to take place at some point during the four-year parliamentary term meant that an agreement proved impossible to reach. Instead, Salmond decided to go it alone, making history on 17 May by becoming the first nationalist to be elected First Minister of Scotland after defeating McConnell by forty-nine to forty-six at a vote at Holyrood. The Tories and Lib Dems abstained, ensuring the SNP would enter government with the support of the two Green MSPs.

         Salmond struck an uncharacteristically consensual tone in a vic­tory speech which reflected the reality of minority government. ‘I commit myself to leadership wholly and exclusively in the Scottish national interest,’ he said. ‘We will appeal for support, policy by policy, across this chamber. That is the parliament the people of Scotland have elected and that is the government that I will be proud to lead.’

         MSPs also gave their backing to a new Cabinet. Sturgeon, now officially Deputy First Minister, was given the crucial health brief, while Salmond’s predecessor as SNP leader, John Swinney, took charge of finance. Another familiar figure from recent SNP histo­ry, Kenny MacAskill, was given justice, Fiona Hyslop headed up education and Richard Lochhead was made Cabinet Secretary for Rural Affairs and the Environment.

         With little prospect of an independence referendum due to the parliament’s unionist majority, the new government initially fo­cused its efforts on implementing as many of the other manifesto promises as possible. Key pledges included cancelling student debt, abolishing council tax and replacing it with a local income tax, free NHS prescriptions, boosting the number of frontline police officers by 1,000 and scrapping tolls on the Forth and Tay road bridges. Free university tuition for Scottish students, a council tax freeze and the successful delivery of the pledges on free prescrip­tions, police numbers and bridge tolls would follow over the next four years.

         The rigours of minority government also ensured party disci­pline. ‘In that first meeting of the parliamentary group, Alex basi­cally said to us all sitting around the table: “Look, we’ve got a one-seat advantage: if one of us drops the ball, if one of us lets down the rest, we’re out,”’ says one MSP present. ‘From that day forward our whips, frankly, had nothing to do.’ The siege mentality fostered by the parliamentary arithmetic would help create the iron discipline that defined the SNP during Salmond’s time as First Minister and then fell apart spectacularly in the wake of his sexual harassment scandal.

         
            * * *

         

         The high stakes of government were brought home to Salmond within a matter of weeks of assuming office when the new First Minister found himself dealing with every politician’s worst night­mare – a terrorist attack on home soil.

         At 3.11 p.m. on 30 June, Iraqi doctor Bilal Abdulla, aged twenty-seven, and 28-year-old engineer Kafeel Ahmed drove a Jeep Cher­okee laden with propane gas cylinders and petrol cans towards the door of Glasgow Airport’s departure area. It was the first Saturday of the school summer break and they hoped to kill hundreds of holidaymakers. Their demented plan was only thwarted by a con­crete bollard that stopped the vehicle’s progress before it managed to crash through to the main terminal building, which had around 4,000 people inside.

         When the Jeep failed to explode, Abdulla threw petrol bombs from the passenger seat and Ahmed, who was born in India but grew up in Saudi Arabia, doused himself in petrol and set it alight. Abdulla then got out of the Jeep and attacked a policeman who had appeared on the scene as stunned civilians fled for their lives. He was also tackled by a number of passers-by, including Alex McIlveen, a taxi driver who had stumbled upon the attack after dropping off a fare.

         Salmond was in Bute House, the First Minister’s official resi­dence in Edinburgh, with James Bond star Sean Connery when he learned of the attack from a senior civil servant at around 3.30 p.m. Connery had been Salmond’s guest of honour at the Queen’s official opening of the third term of the Scottish Parliament, which had concluded three hours earlier, and was staying with the First Minister overnight. The bedroom the actor slept in was nicknamed ‘The Connery Room’ by civil servants and was the scene of the al­leged attempted rape that Salmond would be acquitted of almost thirteen years later.

         Back in 2007, Salmond and his celebrity guest turned on the TV to learn more about the unfolding terrorist attack. Salmond later recalled the events to the Sunday Mail:

         
            There was a Sky newsflash. Sean is usually unflappable with these things – I suppose it must be all these Bond films he’s been in – but there was still a fair amount of astonishment. This was the first terrorist incident in Scotland really because there had never, for example, been an IRA terrorist incident here. There was shock that Scotland was regarded as a terrorist target.

         

         Salmond began a series of meetings on security in the Scottish government’s nearby headquarters, St Andrew’s House, and soon received a call through a secure line from Gordon Brown, who had taken over as UK Prime Minister only three days earlier. It was already clear that the attack was connected to two failed car bomb attempts in London the previous day and coordination between Strathclyde Police and the Met would be vital.

         The next day at 4.30 a.m., officers raided the terrorists’ unlike­ly lair – a two-bedroom semi-detached house in Houston, Ren­frewshire, a small village seven miles west of the airport. The force’s community relations experts were keen to make the public aware that the terrorists were not home-grown in a bid to ward off any ill-feeling towards Scotland’s Muslim community. This desire would provide the first example of what would become a recurring trend over the years that followed: tension between Edinburgh and London over the responsibilities of the devolved administration. Salmond visited the airport on the Sunday afternoon to pay trib­ute to the emergency services and members of the public who had tackled the bombers. He also decided to reveal the initial findings of the police investigation, which suggested the terrorists had not been in Scotland for long but had recently relocated from England. He later said: ‘This was regarded as a crucial message to get out to strongly nip in the bud any suggestion that this would be an excuse for inter-faith tensions.’
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